## IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III

No. 313603

### MICHAEL F. CRONIN

**Appellant** 

vs.

### CENTRAL VALLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Respondent

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Larry J. Kuznetz
POWELL, KUZNETZ & PARKER, P.S.
316 W. Boone, Ste. 380
Rock Pointe Tower
Spokane, WA 99201-2346
(509) 455-4151
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III

No. 313603

### MICHAEL F. CRONIN

**Appellant** 

vs.

### CENTRAL VALLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Respondent

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Larry J. Kuznetz
POWELL, KUZNETZ & PARKER, P.S.
316 W. Boone, Ste. 380
Rock Pointe Tower
Spokane, WA 99201-2346
(509) 455-4151
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Michael F. Cronin (hereinafter "Cronin"), was a teacher at Central Valley School District (hereinafter "School District"). (CP 11). He was terminated from employment when the School District refused to accept his union representative's timely served request for a statutory hearing on the merits of his termination. (CP 135-136; 50). The School District ignored the representative's request for a statutory hearing, claiming the union representative was not an employee of the School District and had no authority to request a hearing on behalf of Cronin. (CP 135-136; 50). As a consequence, the School District failed and refused to appoint a nominee for selection of a statutory hearing officer as required by RCW 28A.405.310(4). (App. 1).

The School District then claimed that the Trial Court was divested of subject matter jurisdiction when Cronin failed to timely file a lawsuit under RCW 28A.645.010 (App. 2) to force the School District to appoint its nominee for selection of a statutory hearing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The request to the School District for a statutory hearing is the first step toward the selection of a statutory hearing officer to hear the merits of a teacher's termination. See RCW 28A.405.310, RCW 28A.405.210; RCW 28A.405.300 and. (App. 1, 3 & 4).

officer as mandated under the teacher hearing procedure statute, RCW 28A.405.310<sup>2</sup> (CP 225-226).

The Trial Court granted the School District's Motion for Summary Judgment for lack of subject matter jurisdiction on November 29, 2012, and entered an order on December 17, 2012 Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration. (CP 276-279; 290-291). Plaintiff appeals.

### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Trial Court erred in dismissing plaintiff's claims against the School District for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, when the School District refused and failed to appoint a nominee for the selection of a statutory hearing officer to hear the merits of plaintiff's termination.
- The Trial Court erred in holding that RCW
   28A.645.010 is controlling and bars this action.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The School District also claimed that the Trial Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because RCW 28A.645.010 required Cronin bring his action within 30 days of when the School District Superintendent decided not to give effect to his request for hearing. (CP 225-226). They abandoned that claim at oral argument. (RP p. 18, lines 16-25; p. 19; p. 20, line 1; p. 29, lines 2-9.)

### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In January 2012 appellant Cronin had been employed by Central Valley School District as a teacher for seven years. (CP 11). His classroom performance was never an issue. (CP 11; 30). He had good performance evaluations. (CP 11). However, Cronin had an alcohol problem outside of school. (CP 11-13). He was not alleged to have ever been under the influence at school or while teaching. (CP 12-14; 30).

On September 30, 2011 Cronin entered an alcohol treatment program at Sundown M Ranch near Yakima with knowledge and notice to the School District. (CP 13). After his discharge from treatment there on October 27, 2011 he reported to Geiger Correctional Facility to serve a 120-day sentence on a previous DUI. (CP 13). He was granted work release privileges while at Geiger. (CP 13; 30).

On January 6, 2012, 10 days before his release and while still incarcerated, Cronin received a certified letter from the District notifying him that they were terminating his employment. (CP 14; 20-21). Since he was incarcerated, on January 11, 2012, he had his union representative, Sally McNair, timely deliver a Notice of Appeal and Request for a Statutory Hearing to the

Superintendent of Central Valley School District. (CP 14-15; 31-32; 48; 201).

On February 21, 2012, Cronin's attorney faxed a letter to the School District's attorney inquiring about Cronin's paycheck and requesting reinstatement of his benefits pending the statutory hearing. (CP 22-24). On February 22, 2012, the School District's attorney sent Cronin's counsel an email indicating that he was out of the office but would try to contact the district that day and get back to Cronin's counsel as soon as possible. (CP 25). Cronin's counsel heard nothing from the School District's attorney.

Then, on February 28, 2012, Cronin's union representative, Sally McNair, received a certified letter from the School District. (CP 32; 50). That letter stated that the School District did not consider her appeal on behalf of Cronin properly presented to them since she was not an employee of the School District and it was not authored by Cronin. (CP 32; 50). As a result, the School District claimed that Cronin had waived his right to a statutory hearing. (CP 32; 50).

On March 23, 2012, Cronin filed an action for declaratory relief and summary judgment to enforce his request for statutory hearing and for payment of benefits pending a decision on the

merits by a statutory hearing officer. (CP 3-10). The District also moved for summary judgment claiming, among other things, that the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because pursuant to RCW 28A.645.010: 1) plaintiff failed to file his action within 30 days of the superintendent's uncommunicated decision not to give effect to Sally McNair's letter of appeal on behalf of plaintiff; and 2) the plaintiff failed to file his action within 30 days after the 15 days had expired from when the School District failed and refused to appoint a nominee to select a hearing officer. (CP 87-134; 225-249).

Three memoranda were filed by Cronin in support of his arguments or in opposition to the School District's position. (CP 51-72; 168-185; 213-224). The School District filed two memoranda in support of its position or in opposition to Cronin's arguments. (CP87-134; 225-249). Oral argument occurred on November 15, 2012 (CP 250) and on November 29, 2012, the court entered an order granting the defense motion for summary judgment. (CP 276-279). Cronin moved for reconsideration on November 20, 2012. (CP 251-259). The School District responded (CP 87-134; 225-249) and the court denied reconsideration on

December 17, 2012. (CP 290-291). Cronin's Notice of Appeal was filed on December 21, 2012. (CP 292-299).

### IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate court applies de novo review to an appeal from summary judgment, engaging in the same inquiry as the superior court. Hisle v. Todd Pac. Shipyards Corp., 151 Wn.2d 853, 860, 93 P.3d 108 (2004); Hiatt v. Walker Chevrolet Co., 120 Wn.2d 57, 65, 837 P.2d 618 (1992). Summary judgment is only appropriate if the pleadings, affidavits, depositions, and admissions on file demonstrate that there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c); Kirby v. City of Tacoma, 124 Wn.App. 454, 463, 98 P.3d 827 (2004). All facts and all reasonable inferences from those facts are construed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. Vallandigham v. Clover Park School Dist. No. 400, 154 Wn.2d 16, 26, 109 P.3d 805 (2005) (citing Atherton Condo. Apartment-Owners Ass'n Bd. Of Dirs. v. Blume Dev. Co., 115 Wn.2d 506, 516, 799 P.2d 250 (1990)).

#### V. ARGUMENT

The Trial Court improperly dismissed Cronin's claims against the School District based on lack of subject matter

jurisdiction. The Trial Court incorrectly held that for purposes of RCW 28A.645.010, the School District made a "decision" not to appoint a nominee to select a hearing officer, and Cronin's failure to file his action within 30 days after the School District failed to appoint a nominee, deprived the court of subject matter jurisdiction. (CP 276-279; 290-291; RP p. 30, lines 6-22).

A. This action is not barred by RCW 28A.645.010 because the District's failure to appoint a nominee is not a "decision" or "failure to act" when a request for hearing under RCW 28A.405.310 is properly presented.

RCW 28A.645.010 provides an aggrieved person with a time limitation of 30 days to appeal to Superior Court "...any decision or order of any school official or board . . . after the rendition of such decision or order, or of the failure to act upon the same when properly presented . . . ." (See App. 2).

The second proviso to RCW 28A.645.010 directly and unequivocally exempts teacher discharge and nonrenewal appeals from the 30 day limitation period. Those kinds of cases are governed by the appeal provisions of RCW 28A.400 and 28A.405:

Appeals by teachers,..from the actions of school boards with respect to discharge or other action adversely affecting their contract status, or failure to renew their contracts for the next ensuing term shall be governed by the appeal provision of chapters 28A.400 and 28A.405 RCW therefor and in all

other cases shall be governed by chapter 28A.645 RCW. (Emphasis added).<sup>3</sup>

This case involves Cronin's appeal to notification of his termination from the School District. It is not subject to the 30-day limitation set forth in the first proviso of RCW 28A.645.010, because it is a declaratory action "with respect to discharge or other action adversely affecting" Cronin's contract status. The statutes relating to discharge (RCW 28A.405.300) and non-renewal (RCW 28A.405.200) referenced in the second proviso of RCW 28A.645.010 expressly provide a 10-day statute of limitations for perfecting a request for a statutory hearing to a school district's notice of termination. The declaratory judgment action filed by Cronin is an effort to enforce his rights to a statutory hearing which he claims was timely requested after the School District's notice of termination.<sup>4</sup> Cronin has no other remedy other than a declaratory judgment action to enforce his rights. What other remedy does a teacher have when the school district intentionally fails to perform an action (appoint a nominee)

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  See also RCW 28A.405.370 (App. 5) which provides that the provisions of RCW 28A.645 <u>shall not</u> apply to RCW 28A.405.300-.360, which are the provisions governing teacher appeals.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For purposes of determining jurisdiction, the School District acknowledged that the Trial Court could assume that Cronin's request for hearing was timely made within 10 days of the date its decision to terminate was communicated to him. (CP 231).

which it is statutorily mandated to perform per RCW 28A.405.310(4)?

The 30-day limitation of RCW 28A.645.010 only applies to decisions which a school board makes in the normal course of administering the school. It does not apply to something which the School District is statutorily mandated to perform. In Mountain View School v. Issaquah School District 411, 58 Wn.App. 630, 794 P.2d 560 (1990), the court held that the 30-day limitation period under the first proviso to RCW 28A.645.010 only applied to "decisions that the school board has authority to decide in the course of administering the school." 58 Wn. App. at 633. The District's failure to appoint a nominee is not the kind of decision made in the course of administering the school. See Bremer v. Mount Vernon Sch. Dist. 320, 34 Wn. App. 192, 194, 660 P.2d 274 (1983)("decision" to which RCW 28A.88.0105 refers means a final decision by the board or official charged by statute, rule, or contract with the responsibility for making that decision.); See also Neilson v. Vashon Island Sch. Dist. 402, 87 Wn. 2d 955,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This statute was recodified as RCW 28A.645.010.

959, 558 P.2d 167 (1976)( until the school board accepts or rejects the recommendation of an advisory committee, no "decision" regarding a teacher's request for salary increase is made that triggers an appeal under RCW 28A.645.010.)

The requirement to appoint a nominee under RCW 28A.405.310(4) is mandatory. The school board doesn't have the authority to refuse to appoint a nominee when a timely request for statutory hearing is served upon the School District. Whether to appoint a nominee has nothing to do with administrative functioning or a decision made in the course of administering the school. It is not something that Cronin was obligated to request of the school board. His only obligation was to notify the School District of his intent to request a statutory hearing. That then triggered the School District's legal obligation to appoint a nominee. There is no discretionary authority on the part of the school board or superintendent to refuse to perform a statutorily-mandated duty to appoint a nominee:

(4) In the event that an employee requests a hearing pursuant to RCW 28A.405.300 or 28A.405.210, a hearing officer shall be appointed in the following manner: Within fifteen days following the receipt of any such request the board of directors of the district or its designee and the employee or employee's designee <u>shall</u> each appoint one nominee. The two nominees shall jointly appoint a hearing

officer who shall be a member in good standing of the Washington state bar association or a person....

(Emphasis added); RCW 28A.405.310(4).

Cronin's declaratory request for relief was the only appropriate means to address the District's failure to act. The letter from the superintendent dated February 22, 2012 was the very first indication to Cronin that the School District did not intend to appoint a nominee. (CP 50). Cronin's declaratory judgment action was, in fact, filed within 30 days of receipt of the superintendent's letter. (CP1-10; 50; 32).

The first proviso to RCW 28A.645.010 requires some triggering decision or failure to act when a matter is properly presented. In this instance, there was no "failure to act upon the same when properly presented" when the School District failed to appoint a nominee. All his union representative did was to notify the District that she was appealing Cronin's termination, requested a closed hearing, and that she was his designee. (CP 48). Cronin did not request that the District act, which it then failed to do when properly presented with that request. The failure to name a statutory nominee was mandated by statute and not an administrative act or failure to act by the school board.

Cronin's failure to force the District to appoint a nominee does not deprive the court of jurisdiction.

B. This action is not governed by the 30-day appeal requirement under RCW 28A.645.010 since there is a 10 day limitation for any appeal to a teacher termination under RCW 28A.405.200 and .310 which was satisfied in this case.

The second proviso to RCW 28A.645.010 makes teacher discharge cases subject to the statutory appeal provisions of RCW 28A.400 and .405. There is a separate statute of limitations period of 10 days, not 30 days, in which a teacher has to request a hearing on his/her termination. A discharged or nonrenewed teacher is granted the opportunity for a hearing pursuant to RCW 28A.405.310 when a timely request is made to the superintendent within 10 days of receipt of such notice. RCW 28A.405.300; RCW 28A.405.210. Once a timely request for hearing is made by a teacher, the first proviso of RCW 28A.645.010 does not apply.

After a school district receives a request for hearing, the hearing procedure statute, RCW 28A.405.310, obligates the parties to name designees who are to confer and appoint nominees for the purpose of selecting a statutory hearing officer. RCW 28A.405.310(4). This statute identifies the manner and method in which a statutory hearing officer is selected. It is procedural.

There is nothing in RCW 28A.645.010 that suggests that a party's failure to appoint a nominee within 15 days somehow deprives the court of subject matter jurisdiction. Nor is there anything to suggest that the 30-day limitation for appealing a decision by the school board under RCW 28A.645.010 applies to RCW 28A.405.310(4) or that the intentional failure of the school district to identify a nominee deprives the court of subject matter jurisdiction.

The School District's argument is arbitrary. If a teacher is the party that fails to appoint a nominee within 15 days, there is no corresponding statute which allows the School District to dismiss the teacher's request for a statutory hearing when the teacher fails to appoint. The School District's remedy under the circumstances is to request the court to order the teacher to appoint a nominee and proceed through the hearing selection process. If a teacher cannot be deprived of a statutory hearing by his/her failure to appoint a nominee, then how can the school district deprive the teacher of such a hearing? The statute would violate equal protection under the 14th Amendment due process and have no rational basis.

C. This action is not barred by the Porter decision since that was not a termination case and involved an administrative decision by the school board.

The Trial Court felt compelled to follow the decision in *Porter* v. Seattle School District No.1, 160 Wn. App. 872, 248 P.3d. 1111 (2011). (RP 30, lines 9 -19). Porter, however, is clearly distinguishable on two grounds. First, it was not a termination case. It was not subject to the procedural requirements for challenging a discharge/nonrenewal determination under either RCW 28A.405.210 or RCW 28A.405.300. Second, the decision in Porter involved the selection and makeup of a curriculum committee, clearly an administrative decision of the school district. It was asserted that the committee selection process was tainted because it excluded certain community members. The court in dicta stated:

The record does not support this allegation, and even if it did, there was not a timely challenge to the committee selection process. See RCW 28A.645.010.

Porter, at 881.

The aforementioned quote is the sole authority relied upon by the School District and the Trial Court for the proposition that the failure to appoint a nominee deprives the court of subject matter jurisdiction. The District has identified no case where its interpretation of RCW 28A.645.010 has been upheld in a teacher termination case. *Porter* simply states, *in dicta*, that an objection to a committee selection decision which is within the authority of the school board to administer, is subject to an appeal of that decision within 30 days under the first proviso of RCW 28A.645.010. *Porter* does not stand for the proposition that the school district's failure to appoint a nominee in a teacher termination case is subject to the 30-day limitation period in the first proviso of RCW 28A.645.010.

Unlike *Porter*, Cronin was terminated and subject to the statutorily mandated hearing process set forth in RCW 28A.405.310. Once a timely request for a hearing was made by Cronin, the procedure set forth in the teacher termination hearing statute (RCW 28A.405.310) applies. To hold otherwise would make the second proviso of RCW 28A.645.010 superfluous. The intent of the legislature was to remove teacher termination cases from the 30-day limitation period of RCW 28A.645.010 once the teacher made a timely request for hearing. That makes sense since the discharge and nonrenewal statutes have their own independent 10-day statute of limitation requiring a teacher file a

request for hearing within 10 days of being served with a termination notice.

Once a timely request for a statutory hearing is made by a teacher, the party's actions are thereupon governed by the procedures set forth in the teacher termination hearing statute (RCW 28A.405.310) and does not default to the 30-day limitation set forth in the first proviso of RCW 28A.645.010. To hold otherwise ignores the second proviso to RCW 28A.645.010 and RCW 28A.405.370.

The School District's position appears to be that it can default to the 30-day limitation under the first proviso of RCW 28A.645.010, even though the issue involves a teacher termination appeal specifically exempted from coverage under the second proviso of RCW 28A.645.010 and RCW 28A.405.370. Its position ignores the clear intent of the legislature that matters related to a teacher's termination are expressly governed by the appeal procedures of RCW 28A.400 and RCW 28A.405.

The School District's interpretation would lead to a strained result. For instance, RCW 28A.405.310 provides a mechanism if the nominees for each respective party are unable to agree on selection of a hearing officer. The statute provides that the two

nominees "shall" jointly appoint a hearing officer. RCW 28A.405.310(4). There is no time frame under the statute in which the two nominees are to appoint a hearing officer, although the requirement that they do so is mandatory. The statute is silent on when a party is to apply to the presiding court for appointment of a hearing officer. The statute simply provides that either party may apply to the presiding court and the court shall appoint a hearing officer. There is no deadline for making this application.

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