2

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

MICHAEL F. CRONIN,

Plaintiff,

VS.

CENTRAL VALLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT'S RESPONSE BRIEF

PAUL E. CLAY, WSBA No. 17106 STEVENS · CLAY · MANIX, P.S. 421 W. Riverside, Suite 1575 Spokane, WA 99201 Tel: (509) 838-8330

Fax: (509) 623-2131

E-Mail: pclay@stevensclay.org

Attorneys for Respondent Central Valley School District 2

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

MICHAEL F. CRONIN,

Plaintiff,

VS.

CENTRAL VALLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT'S RESPONSE BRIEF

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

lawsuit is filed and the appropriate parties are timely served" the case is perfected and there is nothing else that needs to be done because all further work on the case is governed by procedural rules of RCW 28A.405.310. CP 219. Plaintiff's argument again defies common sense.

If this case were as Plaintiff describes, then why did Plaintiff need to file a declaratory judgment action in Superior Court? Why did Plaintiff not simply bring a procedural motion before a hearing officer under RCW 28A.405.310. In other words, if this declaratory judgment case was akin to a proceeding within an existing lawsuit, Plaintiff needs to explain why he did not simply rely on a "procedural rule" within RCW 28A.405.310 to request relief from a hearing officer. Obviously he did not do so because there is no such procedural rule and, indeed, there is not even a hearing officer.

What Plaintiff really wants the Court to do is ignore that he himself did not bring this action under any authority set forth in RCW 28A.405.310. Instead, while he alleges a violation of statutes in Chapter 28A.405 RCW, the authority under which Plaintiff himself brought this action is not RCW 28A.405.310, but instead the Declaratory Judgment statute, Chapter 7.24 RCW. CP 3. His Complaint is fashioned strictly as a declaratory judgment action and what he asks the Court to do is: (1) declare that the District wrongly failed to act on his hearing request and his request to be paid; and, (2) compel the District to act on his request for

a hearing despite the District's failure to act. CP 7-9. It is the District's failure to act that forms the entire and exclusive basis upon which he calls himself an aggrieved party.

Moreover, the argument that a procedural decision is outside the ambit of RCW 28A.645.010 was rejected in *Porter v. Seattle School Dist.*, 160 Wn.App. 872, 880, 248 P.3d 1111 (2011). In *Porter*, one of the decisions at issue was a failure to act upon a request to appoint certain individuals to a curriculum committee. The court framed the issue as a procedural decision:

The challengers argue that the adoption committee **process** was biased in favor of inquiry-based math. They say teachers and community members willing to publicly question reform methodology were pointedly excluded. The record does not support this allegation, and even if it did, there was not a timely challenge to the committee selection **process**. See RCW 28A.645.010.

Id. at 880. (Emphasis added). The *Porter* court ruled that RCW 28A.645.010 deprived the court of subject matter jurisdiction because the plaintiff did not timely challenge a **procedural** failure to put certain parents on a committee. The Court expressly identified the failure to act as a **procedural** failure and nevertheless held that RCW 28A.645.010 deprived the court of jurisdiction because the failure to put certain citizens

on the committee was not appealed within 30 days. Plaintiff's assertion that RCW 28A.645.010 does not apply to procedural decisions or failures to act on requests for procedural decisions is simply incorrect and contrary to express, recent, controlling case law.

Plaintiff tries to distinguish *Porter* by arguing that the operative language is *dicta*. It is not *dicta* but instead is an alternative basis for the court's reasoning that RCW 28A.645.010 precludes the plaintiff parents' claim for failure to appoint someone to a committee. Here, RCW 28A.645.010 precludes this lawsuit for failure to appoint someone to be a nominee. RCW 28A.645.010 cuts a wide swath and applies to any decision and any failure to act. *Porter* applied it to a procedural failure to appoint certain community members. Plaintiff's attempt to limit *Porter* as dicta fails and thus Plaintiff fails to explain how this case is any different from the ruling in *Porter*.

Moreover, as to Plaintiff's argument that RCW 28A.645.010 does not apply to procedural decisions, Plaintiff ignores the plain language of the statute itself. RCW 28A.645.010 says the failure to act upon <u>any</u> decision must be appealed from within 30 days; otherwise the court has no subject matter jurisdiction. To repeat, by its own terms, RCW 28A.645.010 applies to <u>any</u> decision. It does not need to be a particular kind of decision. It can be a substantive decision or a procedural decision.

It can be really important decision or a relatively trivial decision. It applies to <u>any</u> decision. And, not only does it apply to <u>any</u> decision, it also applies to the failure to act upon <u>any</u> properly-presented request. It could be a request for a substantive decision or a request for a procedural decision. It could be a request for a trivial decision or a request for a really important one. The Superintendent's failure to act upon <u>any</u> request deprives this Court of subject matter jurisdiction to order such action 30 days after the request. Again, it can be a request to act upon a really important decision, a minor decision, a substantive decision or a procedural decision. The type of request is completely irrelevant. Thus, when Plaintiff asked the Superintendent to appoint a nominee, that request was subject to RCW 28A.645.010. Therefore, 30 days after Plaintiff requested the Superintendent to appoint a nominee, Plaintiff lost all rights to challenge the Superintendent's <u>failure to act</u> on that request.

In the court below, Plaintiff repeatedly referred to the District's failure to appoint a nominee as either "jurisdictional" or "non-jurisdictional." CP 180-81. Plaintiff seems to have abandoned that argument and rightly so because it misunderstands the jurisdictional analysis here. RCW 28A.645.010 applies to <u>any</u> decision and <u>any</u> failure to act. It allows a plaintiff to bring this type of action and it requires him

to do so within 30 days. The statute does not distinguish between "jurisdictional" or "non-jurisdictional" decisions or failures to act.

What Plaintiff really wants the Court to conclude is that there are certain decisions exempt from RCW 28A.645.010 and that this should be one of them because of how he characterizes the decision or failure to act (that is, because of how he characterizes a decision as jurisdictional or Washington courts have repeatedly rejected this argument by pointing out that a plaintiff cannot re-characterize his complaint in order to escape the confines of RCW 28A.645.010. Here, Plaintiff cannot say that his declaratory judgment action is any different from the declaratory judgment action in the Clark case. 53 Wn.App. at 835. In that case, the court pierced the veil of plaintiff's declaratory judgment action and called the complaint what it was: a challenge to a school district decision. Here, Plaintiff's declaratory judgment action is nothing more than a challenge to the District's failure to act. And, any failure to act, upon which an aggrieved Plaintiff sues a School District in Superior Court, triggers the 30 day timeline in RCW 28A.645.010.

4. Plaintiff Does Not Say What Limitations Period Applies.

Plaintiff seems to have abandoned his argument that the <u>two year</u> statute of limitations in RCW 4.16.130 applies instead of the 30 day timeline in RCW 28A.645.010. Plaintiff previously took the position that he

can request a hearing (properly or not) and then, if the School District does not act on that request, Plaintiff can wait two years before filing a declaratory judgment action in Superior Court. CP 219. Regardless of the inequity of requiring a school district to wait two years for such a lawsuit, the law is plainly opposite.¹¹

In particular, RCW 4.16.005 expressly states that "except when in special cases a different limitation is prescribed by a statute not contained in this chapter, actions can only be commenced within the periods provided in this chapter after the cause of action has accrued." (Emphasis added). RCW 28A.645.010 is just such a different limitation. Chapter 4.16 RCW thus does not apply. RCW 28A.645.010 means what it says and it says that a party must bring an action within 30 days of any decision or of any failure to act. RCW 28A.645.010 also means what it says when it says that all cases other than a teacher's actual

_

To highlight the inequity, a two year statute of limitations would allow an employee to request a hearing and then, if the school district does not actually receive the request (due to, for example, a clerical error), the employee can wait two years before suing the school district for back pay. All of this, despite that the employee would know right away of the district failure to act on his appeal (by failing to appoint a nominee). Indeed, Ms. McNair's January 11 letter reflects this very approach--the whole point of the letter was to seek more time than the allotted 10 days. Ms. McNair followed up with an email on February 8, over a month after the issuance of the notice of probable cause, saying that Plaintiff finally decided he wanted a hearing. Then, Plaintiff's lawyer sent a letter on February 21 (now over a month and half after the notice of probable cause), saying Plaintiff wants to get paid. And, what Plaintiff argues in this case is that he should be able to wait an entire two years before he is required to bring an action challenging the District's failure to act on his purported hearing request all the while he should get paid or accrue back pay.

discharge/nonrenewal appeal are governed by the 30 day deadline--not a separate two year statute of limitations.

5. RCW 28A.645.010 Applies to Failures to Act.

Plaintiff previously appeared to argue that RCW 28A.645.010 only applies to decisions of which notice is provided rather than also to "failures to act." CP 215 & 220-22. The statute, however, is abundantly clear that it applies when a Plaintiff does not timely challenge a "failure to act." Moreover, as mentioned above RCW 28A.645.010 does not merely impose a 30 day jurisdictional bar. To the contrary, RCW 28A.645.010 is an enabling statute that affirmatively empowers any aggrieved person to challenge any action of a superintendent or school board in superior court. The statute also empowers any person to challenge, in superior court, the failure of a superintendent or school board to act when properly requested to do so. The statute creates extremely broad rights that allow any person to challenge any action or failure to act. Were it not for the failure to act language, the statute would lose all force and power given that a school district could avoid challenge by not making a decision when requested to do so. The legislature expressly rejected such a result by providing broad remedial rights in RCW 28A.645.010 that allow superior court challenges to any decision or failure to act.

Plaintiff, seemingly unaware of the empowering aspects of RCW 28A.645.010, criticizes the School District for relying on the Superintendent's intentional "failure to act and appoint a nominee." CP 221 (Plaintiff Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment at 9). Plaintiff says the School District's failure to act was intentional and that it is bad faith for the District to rely on its own intentional failure to act. The Superintendent, however, has no obligation to respond to an improper hearing request. It is hardly bad faith to fail to act when that failure is based on Plaintiff's own failure to properly request a hearing.

6. Plaintiff Makes a New Argument Based on Equal Protection.

It is difficult for the School District to ascertain, but Plaintiff now seems to argue that there is no limitations period for his underlying declaratory judgment action because any such limitations period would be arbitrary and would "violate equal protection under the 14th Amendment due process." Brief of Appellant at 13. Plaintiff makes this argument for the first time on appeal and provides the Court with no analysis as to how application of RCW 28A.645.010 here violates the 14th Amendment. 12

¹² To establish an equal protection violation, Plaintiff would have to show that RCW 28A.645.010 treats unequally two similarly situated classes of people. *Fell v. Spokane Transit Auth.*, 128 Wn.2d 618, 635, 911 P.2d 1319 (1996). Moreover, an equal protection claim such as this is not based on a suspect classification. *See, eg., Meyers v. Newport Consol. Joint School Dist. No. 56-415*, 31 Wn.App. 145, 150, 639 P.2d 853 (1982). Thus, the "rational basis" test applies. *Marquez v. University of Washington*, 32 Wn.App. 302, 308, 648 P.2d 94 (1982).

Plaintiff cannot show that RCW 28A.645.010 differentiates between similarly situated classes of people (i.e., employees and non-employees). Rather, RCW 28A.645.010 is analogous to limitations on time to file notice of appeals such as RAP 5.2(a) and applies equally to anyone who challenges a school board or school official action.

Plaintiff seems to argue that, if a teacher never appoints a nominee under RCW 28A.405.310, then the School District is precluded from ever precluding the teacher from having a hearing. Plaintiff's argument, however, ignores judicial use of concepts such as waiver, estoppel and/or laches. Moreover, Plaintiff seems to want to differentiate between the applicability of RCW 28A.645.010 toward school districts versus individuals who sue school districts. A school district, however, would never bring an action against itself under RCW 28A.645.010. Thus, the School District and Plaintiff are not similarly situated classes of people and there could be no equal protection claim on such a basis.

7. Plaintiff Appears to Abandon His Estoppel Claim.

Plaintiff previously made what could only be characterized as a desperate plea for estoppel. CP 183. He argued that the District should be estopped from denying Ms. McNair's purported request for appeal. Plaintiff, however, has never mentioned any admission, statement or act

by the District that is inconsistent with the District's position or claim here. He also did not identify any action that he took in reliance on anything the District did. Plaintiff may very well have relied on misguided action taken by Ms. McNair, but Ms. McNair's action is not action of the District.

Moreover, Plaintiff's estoppel argument has previously been rejected in *Greene v. Pateros School Dist.*, 59 Wn.App. 522, 535, 799 P.2d 276 (1990):

The elements of estoppel are: (1) an admission, statement or act inconsistent with a claim afterward asserted; (2) action by another in reliance upon it; and (3) injury to the relying party from allowing the contradiction or repudiation. Board of Regents of UW v. Seattle, 108 Wash.2d 545, 551, 741 P.2d 11 (1987). 'However, in order to create an estoppel, the party claiming to have been influenced by the conduct or declarations of another must have been unaware of the true facts.' Luna v. Gillingham, 57 Wash.App. 574, 582, 789 P.2d 801, review denied, 115 Wash.2d 1020 (1990).

Mr. Greene can hardly complain he was unaware of the true facts necessary to perfect his appeal. The notice of nonrenewal informed him of his right to appeal his contract nonrenewal pursuant to RCW 28A.67.070.

(Emphasis added).

Precisely the same analysis applies here. How can Plaintiff claim he was unaware of the true facts needed "to perfect his appeal" given that the Notices of Probable Cause informed him of his right to request a hearing and **even enclosed copies of both statutes** (incidentally, there is no requirement in the law that the District enclose both statutes).

Related to an estoppel argument, Plaintiff also seems to argue that the District was somehow laying in wait for him to file this action beyond the 30 day timeline. CP 221. Plaintiff asserts bad faith and unclean hands based on nothing more than an <u>unsubstantiated assumption</u> that the District and the undersigned engaged in a Machiavellian plot as of January 26, 2012 to wait 30 days until telling Plaintiff of the reason why the District had not responded to Ms. McNair's letter. The truth is actually in keeping with the far more simple fact (which has already been mentioned above): The District chose not to respond to what it considered an improper hearing request out of concern that any such response would be considered an admission that Ms. McNair's letter was a proper request and out of concern that a District response would act as a waiver of the ability to argue that Ms. McNair's letter was not a proper request.

///

///

8. Plaintiff Argues That the School District Must Give Him Notice of its Failure to Act.

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